



Program Description & Participation Agreement

Supplement to the Program Description and Participation Agreement

Effective January 2022

All changes set forth below should be read in conjunction with the Program Description and Participation Agreement.

Changes to Contribution Method and Allocations

- When making a one-time contribution, select the Investment Option to which the funds should be contributed to. Select between three predesigned portfolio options and/or the five individual Investment Options, including an FDIC Savings option.
- Contributions will be made in dollar amounts not percentages.
- Mailed contributions without investment direction will be distributed proportionally based on current value of Investment Options.

Changes to Distributions

- When a withdrawal request is made, select which Investment Option to withdraw funds from. For example, an individual could maintain their investment balance and withdraw specifically from the FDIC Savings option.
- Funds may be distributed to an optional connected prepaid card. To learn more or enroll, visit www.ableunited.com or log in to the Account. Additional fees may apply.

Recent Changes

- Account Administrator may request paper checks to the address of record or to a thirdparty online. Paper check requests may be mailed to Customer Service by means of a paper form, or for previous issued third-party checks, an over the phone request may be accepted. There will be no charge for paper check requests.
- Annual contribution limit has increased to \$16,000 and ABLE to Work contributions increased to \$12,880 for 2022.
- Based on the final IRS regulations, there is an expansion on who may open and manage
 the account on behalf of the Beneficiary. This includes: the Beneficiary of an ABLE
 account who has legal capacity selecting an Account Administrator to manage their
 ABLE account, or the Beneficiary's agent under a power of attorney, conservator or legal
 guardian, the spouse, a parent, a sibling, a grandparent, or a representative payee
 (whether an individual or organization) appointed by the Social Security Administration
 (SSA), in that order

Our Customer Service team can be reached at 1-888-524-2253 (Mon-Fri, 9am-6pm ET).

EFFECTIVE DATE: JANUARY 2022

Important notes to investors:

Carefully consider the investment objectives, risks, charges, and expenses before investing in the ABLE United Account. Please read this Program Description and Participation Agreement carefully.

As with any investment, it is possible to lose money by investing in this Account. The value of your ABLE United Account may fluctuate and it is possible for the value of your Account to be less than the amount you invested.

Before investing in an ABLE Program, you should consider whether the state in which you or your designated Beneficiary reside or have taxable income has an ABLE Program that offers favorable state income tax, or other benefits that are available only if you invest in that state's ABLE Program.

This information is for educational purposes only and is not intended as tax, legal, or investment advice.

ABLE United Accounts are offered by the Florida Prepaid College Board. ABLE United Accounts are not guaranteed by the State of Florida, the Florida Prepaid College Board, or the Florida State Board of Administration.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
OVERVIEW	2
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION	4
Section 1: Introduction	4
Section 2: How It Works	6
Section 3: Investment Options	9
Section 4: Investment, Tax and Legal Considerations	12
Section 5: ABLE and Government Benefits	14
PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT	16
TERMS AND CONDITIONS	19
Section 1: Definitions	19
Section 2: Participation in the Program	22
Section 3: Account Rights	24
Section 4: Investment Options	25
Section 5: Risks of Investing in the Program	26
Section 6: Contributions	26
Section 7: Fees and Penalties	29
Section 8: Account Changes	30
Section 9: Distributions	31
Section 10: Termination and Refunds	32
Section 11: Reporting	33
Section 12: Other Information About the Account	35
APPENDIX A – FEES	39
APPENDIX B - INVESTMENT OPTION RISK	40
APPENDIX C – PERFORMANCE	41



OVERVIEW

The mission of ABLE United is to encourage and assist the saving of private funds to help persons with disabilities cover costs that support their health, independence and quality of life.

Feature	Description			
ABLE Account	Tax-advantaged savings and investment account designed to help individuals with disabilities save without impacting public benefit programs.			
Advantages	Save tax-free for future expenses; funds have the potential to grow tax-free.			
	Save while maintaining public benefits such as SSI and Medicaid. Generally, funds in an ABLE Account do not count as a resource for federally-means tested programs.			
	Save with the help of family and friends – Anyone can contribute. This includes the Beneficiary, organizations and trusts.			
Administrator	The State of Florida created Florida ABLE, Inc. (d/b/a ABLE United), a registered not-for-profit and direct support organization of the Florida Prepaid College Board to administer the ABLE United Program.			
Program Partners	Plan Manager Consultant Record Admin. Audit Services Sumday Sumday CPAs and Advisors			
	BNY MELLON AON Sumday CPAs and Advisors Investment Investment Investment Investment Rublic Relations			
	BNY MELLON Sumday CRICAR R R RIGGS & CRICAR R R RIGGS & CRICAR R R R RIGGS & CRICAR R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R			
	BNY MELLON Sumday CRICAR R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R			



Enrollment	Enroll anytime: Online at www.ableunited.com. An email address, personal identifiable information about the Beneficiary and Account Administrator, banking information, a \$25 minmum deposit, and selection of investment options will be required.			
Contribute	Annual contribution limit: \$16,000 . ABLE to Work contributions up to an additional \$12,880. Maximum account balance \$418,000. Anything above \$100,000 will count as a resource for individuals receiving Supplemental Security Income.			
Qualified Disability Expense	Expenses that are for the Beneficiary that help to improve or maintain his or her health, independence, or quality of life. Such expenses include, but are not limited to, expenses for education, housing, transportation, employment training and support, assistive technology, health prevention and wellness, financial management and administrative services, legal fees, expenses for oversight and monitoring, funeral expenses, and even basic living expenses life groceries.			
Withdrawal	Make withdrawals of at least \$5 from your Account online at any time. The money will be transferred to connected bank account, loaded to an ABLE Prepaid Card in 2-7 business days, or by check request to the Beneficiary, Administrator or third-party.			
Investment	Choose a predesigned portfolio	or build a portfolio		
Options	Predesigned Portfolios:	Fund Options:		
	Conservative	FDIC Savings		
	Moderate	U.S. Bond		
	Growth	U.S. Stock		
		International Stock		
_	=			
Fees	Account Fee: No monthly Account fee with delivery \$10.00 annual fee for mailed correspondence (optional)			
	Investment Administration Fee: Up to 0.29% (annualized) of the Account Balance depending on the Investment Option			



PROGRAM DESCRIPTION

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION

The Stephen Beck, Jr. Achieving a Better Life Experience (**ABLE**) Act created Section 529A of the Internal Revenue Code (**Code**) which authorizes each state to establish a program that offers tax-free savings and investment accounts for individuals with disabilities. ABLE Accounts encourage the saving of private funds to support health, independence, and quality of life. Generally, an ABLE Account is disregarded as a resource when determining eligibility for public benefit programs, such as Supplemental Security Income (**SSI**) and Medicaid.

PROGRAM OVERSIGHT AND ADMINISTRATION

The State of Florida created Florida ABLE, Inc. (d/b/a **ABLE United**), a registered not-for-profit and direct support organization of the Florida Prepaid College Board to administer the ABLE United Program (**Program**).

The ABLE United Board of Directors includes the Chair of the Florida Prepaid College Board, up to three individuals appointeed by the Florida Prepaid College Board, and one member appointed by each of the following: the Governor, the Speaker of the House, and the President of the Senate.

ABLE United invests in accordance with a Comprehensive Investment Plan that specifies the investment policies for the Program. A report including a financial description of the Program is made available online at www.ableunited.com.

The Florida Prepaid College Board, established in 1987, oversees more than \$12 billion in investments for the Stanley G. Tate Florida Prepaid College Program and the Florida 529 Savings Program under Section 529 of the Code. The Board is administratively housed within the State Board of Administration, but independently exercises the powers and duties specified in Sections 1009.97-1009.988, Florida Statutes. For more information about the Florida Prepaid College Board, visit www.myfloridaprepaid.com.

Mailing Address for Correspondence and Contributions

Regular Mail:

ABLE United Program
P.O. Box 9696
Providence, RI 02940-9696

Overnight Mail:

ABLE United Program 4400 Computer Drive Westborough, MA 01581



KEY TERMS

Before you begin, it is important that you understand two key terms used throughout this Program Description and Participation Agreement (**PDPA**). Please refer to the Terms and Conditions for more detailed information and a full list of definitions.

"Administrator" refers to the Beneficiary. If the Beneficiary is unable, or chooses not to exercise signature authority over the ABLE United Account (Account), then "Administrator" refers to an Authorized Legal Representative (ALR). An ALR is a Custodian of Agent for the Beneficiary, such as a Parent, legal guardian, a person authorized under a power of attorney, the spouse, a parent, a sibling, a grandparent, or a representative payee (whether an individual or organization) appointed by the Social Security Administration (SSA), in that order. The ALR may neither have, nor acquire, any beneficial interest in the Account during the Beneficiary's lifetime and must administer the Account for the benefit of the Beneficiary. References in the PDPA to "You" refers to you in your capacity as the Administrator.

"Beneficiary" is the individual with a disability and the owner of the Account. The Beneficiary may exercise the rights of the Account, even if someone else is serving as the Administrator. The Account is established for the purpose of meeting the Qualified Disability Expenses of the Beneficiary.

ABOUT INVESTING

Whether you are a first-time investor or have been investing for many years, the following guiding principles can help you on your path to saving and investing:

- Have a financial plan
- Understand your risk tolerance
- Diversify your investments
- Start saving early

The U.S Securities and Exchange Commission provides a variety of educational materials about investing. For more information visit www.investor.gov.



SECTION 2: HOW IT WORKS

Like a Roth IRA or 529 college savings plan, an ABLE United Account (**Account**) is a tax-free savings account for future expenses of the Beneficiary.

ELIGIBILITY

The Beneficiary may only have one Account. There are three eligibility requirements for opening an Account:

1. State Residency:

The Beneficiary must be a Florida resident at the time of Application.

2. Qualifying Disability:

The Beneficiary must meet **one** of the following criteria:

- a. Entitled to Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits;
- b. Entitled to Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) benefits;
- c. Have a condition listed in the "List of Compassionate Allowances Conditions" maintained by the Social Security Administration;
- d. Certify that the individual is blind within the meaning of Section 1614(a)(2) of the Social Security Act; OR
- e. Certify that the individual has a medically determinable physical or mental impairment that results in marked and severe functional limitation and can be expected to result in death or has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of at least 12 months; OR is blind AND has a signed diagnosis from a licensed physician as to the condition described.

The term "marked and severe functional limitation" means a functional limitation that meets, medically equals, or functionally equals the severity of any listing in appendix 1 of subpart P of 20 CFR part 404, but without regard to age. (www.ssa.gov/OP Home/cfr20/404/404-app-p01.htm). The level of severity is determined by taking into account the effect of the Beneficiary's prescribed treatment.

The term "blind" means that the Beneficiary has central visual acuity of 20/200 or less in the better eye with the use of a correcting lens. An eye which is accompanied by a limitation in the fields of vision such that the widest diameter of the visual field subtends an angle no greater than 20 degrees is considered to have a central visual acuity of 20/200 or less.



The Internal Revenue Service categorizes eligible disabilities as follows:

- Developmental Disorders: Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Asperger's Disorder, Developmental delays and learning disabilities
- Intellectual Disability: May be reported as mild, moderate, or severe intellectual disability
- Psychiatric Disorders: Schizophrenia, Major depressive disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Anorexia Nervosa, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (AD/HD), Bipolar Disorder
- Nervous Disorders: Blindness, Deafness, Cerebral Palsy, Muscular Dystrophy, Spina Bifida, Juvenile-onset Huntington's Disease, Multiple Sclerosis, Severe sensorineural hearing loss, Congenital cataracts
- Congenital Anomalies: Chromosomal abnormalities, including Down Syndrome;
 Osteogenesis Imperfecta, Xeroderma Pigmentosum, Spinal muscular atrophy,
 Fragile X Syndrome, Edwards Syndrome
- Respiratory Disorders: Cystic Fibrosis
- Other: Tetralogy of Fallot, Hypoplastic left heart syndrome, End-stage liver disease, Juvenile-onset rheumatoid arthritis, Sickle cell disease, Hemophilia, and any other disability not listed

3. Disability Onset:

The individual with a disability must be blind or have a disability which occurred before the individual's 26th birthday.

SAVE FOR THE FUTURE

Save for a variety of future Qualified Disability Expenses, including basic living expenses. Expenses need not be medically necessary or for the sole benefit of the Beneficiary.





CONTRIBUTIONS

Save up to \$16,000 per year – individually or with the help of family and friends. Contributions may be made online through electronic funds transfer or by mail. Friends and family can contribute through your online gifting portal via electronic funds transfer or debit card. Please include the Account number on all mailed contributions.

ABLE Accounts can accept rollovers from 529 Qualified Tuition Plans as prescribed in Section 529 of the Code. This type of rollover counts towards the Maximum Annual Contribution Limit – \$16,000. Visit www.ableunited.com or contact customer service for more information.

Save more than \$16,000 per year if Beneficiary is working and his/her employer does not contribute to the Beneficiary's defined contribution plan, 403(b), or 457(b) plan within the taxable year. The Beneficiary may contribute an additional amount up to the lessor of: (i) the Beneficiary's compensation for the taxable year; or (ii) an amount equal to the Federal Poverty Level for a one person household as determined for the preceding calendar year of the tax year in which contributions are made. This amount for 2022 is \$12,880.

In addition, the Beneficiary may be eligible for the Saver's Credit provision. Please consult a tax advisor to discuss your unique situation.

Accounts can be setup up with as little as \$25. You may rollover funds from another ABLE account provided that the previous account is closed within 60 days.

Contribute online:	www.ableunited.com
	ABLE United Program P.O. Box 9696 Providence, RI 02940-9696

WITHDRAWALS

Easily access funds online by requesting an electronic funds transfer to a connected bank account, submit a request for a paper check to be sent to the Beneficiary, Administrator or to a third party, or transfer to the connected ABLE Visa ® Prepaid Card.

Electronic transfer:	Free
Paper check requests:	Free
ABLE Visa Prepaid Card:	\$2.50 per month, additional fees as applicable see Appendx A - Fees



The ABLE Prepaid Visa Card is issued by Sunrise Banks N.A., St. Paul, MN 55103, Member FDIC, pursuant to a license from Visa U.S.A. Inc. This card can be used everywhere Visa debit cards are accepted. Use of this card constitutes acceptance of the terms and conditions stated in the Cardholder Agreement (https://ableunited.truelinkfinancial.com/legal/able-master-services-agreement). True Link Financial, Inc. is required to periodically report certain Card information to the Visa Prepaid Clearinghouse Service (PCS) to assist in fraud prevention. Please contact PCS Customer Service for details regarding the information reported and on file with PCS. PCS Customer Service Department's business hours are Monday – Friday, 9:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time. Visa Prepaid Clearinghouse Service Customer Service Department 5005 Rockside Road, Suite 600-27 Independence, OH 44131 PH Phone 1-844-263-2111 Fax 1-844-432-3609. For more information, please refer to the Cardholder Agreement (https://ableunited.truelinkfinancial.com/legal/able-master-services-agreement).

The Program does not require approval or documentation for withdrawal requests. You should retain appropriate documentation to justify expenses to the Social Security Administration and Internal Revenue Service.

SECTION 3: INVESTMENT OPTIONS

The Program offers eight Investment Options designed to meet the needs of most investors. These include three predesigned portfolios and five individual funds, including an FDIC Savings option, from which you may build a custom portfolio by contributing funds to one or more options.

Incoming contributions by linked bank accounts can be allocated to one or more Investment Options; online gift contributions can be contributed to any one Investment Option; and mailed contributions without direction will be evenly distributed across all Investment Options with a balance.

For money that is already in an Account, the allocation of the Account Balance may be modified up to two times per calendar year.



PREDESIGNED PORTFOLIO OPTIONS

The Program has designed three fully diversified and professionally managed investment portfolios covering a spectrum of risk. The portfolios are constructed from the individual fund options and rebalanced periodically to maintain the allocations described below.

Predesigned Portfolio Allocations				
Portfolio Option	Conservative	Moderate	Growth	
Components	10% 10% 30% 50%	15% 40% 45%	25% 20%	
Money Market Fund	10%	-	-	
U.S. Bond Fund	50%	40%	20%	
● U.S. Stock Fund	30%	45%	55%	
● Int'l Stock Fund	10%	15%	25%	



INVESTMENT OPTIONS

There are four professionally managed individual fund options, which represent major investment asset categories, and one FDIC savings option. Various options provide flexibility to construct a portoflio based on your savings goal.

FDIC SAVINGS FUND Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon

The FDIC Savings Fund is an FDIC Insured Savings Account Option. Funds will be placed in a demand deposit account established by the Trust at the Bank of New York Mellon.

MONEY MARKET FUND Manager: Florida PRIME

The Money Market Fund is invested in Florida's Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME), which invests in short-term, high-quality fixed income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category to provide stable returns with less risk. The fund seeks to provide, in priority order, safety, liquidity and returns comparable to short-term instruments with minimized risks.

U.S. BOND FUND Manager: Vanguard

The U.S. Bond Fund is invested in the Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares (ticker symbol: VBMPX), a passively managed bond fund which tracks the performance of a benchmark index. Investments include U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government Agency obligations, as well as, corporate debt and securitized instruments. The fund seeks to provide investors with exposure to the broad fixed income market in the United States.

U.S. STOCK FUND Manager: Vanguard

The U.S. Stock Fund is invested in the Vanguard Total Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares (ticker symbol: VSMPX), a passively managed stock fund which tracks the performance of a benchmark index that measures the investment return of the overall U.S. equities market. The fund seeks to provide investors with exposure to the overall U.S. equities market.

INTERNATIONAL STOCK FUND Manager: BlackRock

The International Stock Fund is invested in the iShares MSCI EAFE International Index Fund (ticker symbol: BTMKX), a passively managed stock fund which tracks the performance of a benchmark index of international developed markets. The fund seeks to provide investors exposure to international equities in developed markets.



SECTION 4: TAX, LEGAL AND INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

Please be advised that the investment, tax, and legal information set forth in this PDPA is intended to support the marketing of the Program. Individual circumstances may vary. Please consult your financial, tax and legal advisors for advice regarding your individual circumstances and available options.

TAX CONSIDERATIONS

It is the responsibility of the Administrator, and/or Beneficiary, to substantiate the tax treatment of any transaction. Accordingly, documents and information adequate to substantiate such tax treatment should be retained.

FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES

The earnings on an Account are deferred for federal income tax purposes until withdrawal. As long as withdrawals from the Account are used for the Beneficiary's Qualified Disability Expenses, the earnings portion of the withdrawals will not be subject to federal income taxation. Contributions to the Account and earnings on the Account are exempt from State of Florida taxation.

If the Beneficiary moves to another state or has taxable income in another state, and if that state has established a Qualified ABLE Program, that state's program may offer favorable state income tax benefits or other benefits that are only available if you invest in that state's program, and may be not available to the Beneficiary in this Program.

FEDERAL GIFT, ESTATE AND GENERATION-SKIPPING TRANSFER TAXES

Contributions to an Account are generally excluded from federal gift tax as aggregate annual contributions to an Account cannot exceed the amount of the annual per-donee gift tax exclusion under section 2503(b) of the Code in effect for that calendar year. When made by a person other than the designated Beneficiary, contributions are treated as non-taxable gifts to the Beneficiary. A contribution by a corporation is treated as a gift by its shareholders and a contribution by a partnership is treated as a gift by its partners. This rule also applies to trusts, estates, associations, and companies. Contributions made by a Beneficiary to an Account benefitting the Beneficiary are not treated as a completed gift.

Gift tax consequences may arise from contributions to an Account if a contributor makes other gifts to a designated Beneficiary in addition to the gift to the Beneficiary's Account. The contributor's total gifts made to the Beneficiary in that year could give rise to a gift



tax liability. Please consult your own tax advisor with respect to your specific circumstances.

NON-QUALIFIED DISTRIBUTION

The earnings portion of a Non-Qualified Distribution is includable in determining the federal taxable income of the Beneficiary for the year in which the Non-Qualified Distribution is paid. The portion of such withdrawal that is attributable to earnings will not be included in income for state personal income tax purposes in Florida because the State of Florida does not impose a personal income tax. If the Beneficiary is a resident of a state other than Florida, then such person should consult their tax advisor to determine if the portion of such withdrawal that is attributable to earnings is subject to state income taxation in such person's state of residence.

Also, the Additional Tax payable through the federal income tax return of the Non-Qualified Distribution to the United States Treasury will generally apply to the earnings portion of any Non-Qualified Distribution.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

Final federal regulations issued under Section 529A of the Internal Revenue Code provide guidance and requirements for the establishment and operation of the Program, but do not provide guidance on certain aspects of the Program. Final regulations, administrative guidance, court decisions, or changes in federal law could adversely affect tax treatment or requirements for the Program. In addition, the Florida Legislature may make changes to Florida law, which could terminate or otherwise adversely affect the Program.

BANKRUPTCY LAW CONSIDERATIONS

Bankruptcy cases commenced by individuals under Title 11 of the United States Code expressly exclude from certain funds paid or contributed by such individual to an ABLE Account. However, federal bankruptcy is limited.

Funds paid into or out of the Program by or on behalf of the Beneficiary are exempt, as provided by Section 222.22, Florida Statutes, from all claims of creditors of the Beneficiary if the Participation Agreement has not been terminated.

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

This PDPA is not an offer to sell nor the solicitation of an offer to buy any security other than an investment in the Program offered hereby, nor is it an offer to sell or the solicitation to any person in any jurisdiction or under any circumstances in which it would be unlawful.



No security issued by the Program has been registered with or approved by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any state securities commission. Further, the Accounts and this PDPA are not subject to oversight by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

NO GUARANTEE

Enrolling and investing in the Program involves certain risks, including the loss of the entire amount of funds invested in the Program. Accounts are not deposits or obligations of, nor are they insured or guaranteed by, the State of Florida or any agency, or instrumentality thereof, the United States government, the Program, any financial institution, the investment managers listed herein or any other agency, entity, instrumentality or person. Participation in the Program does not guarantee sufficient funds to cover Qualified Disability Expenses.

The FDIC Savings fund is insured by the FDIC on a pass-through basis to each Beneficiary in the same manner as other deposits held by the Beneficiary at The Bank of New York Mellon in the same ownership right and capacity. FDIC insurance generally protects up to \$250,000 of your deposits, subject to certain restrictions. For more information on FDIC insurance, visit www.fdic.gov.

NO INVESTMENT ADVICE

The Board, Program staff and contract employees are not registered investment advisors or broker/dealers, and therefore cannot offer investment advice or make recommendations with respect to enrolling in the Program or the selection of Investment Options. It is critical that you fully understand each Investment Option and the risks associated with each Investment Option. It is suggested that you consult your own tax, financial and legal advisors for advice on what best meets the Beneficiary's savings and investment goals.

SECTION 5: ABLE AND GOVERNMENT BENEFITS

Pursuant to federal law, funds in an Account are generally disregarded for purposes of determining eligibility to receive government assistance or benefits. This includes contributions, earnings and withdrawals for Qualified Disability Expenses.

Further, contributions to an Account, including funds contributed by a third-party, are generally not considered income to the Beneficiary. However, a contribution made to an Account by an employer will still be considered income to the employee, who could be either the Beneficiary or someone else. For example, a contribution by the employer of the Beneficiary's parent continues to constitute earned income to the parent and then a gift by the parent to the Beneficiary.



SUPPLEMENTAL SECURITY INCOME

For the purposes of determining eligibility for SSI benefits under Title XVI of the Social Security Act, the following exceptions apply whereby funds in, or distributions from an Account, may lead to a suspension of benefits.

- A distribution for housing expenses will not be disregarded if the funds are not expended in the same month that they are withdrawn from the Account. Funds withdrawn from an Account and held beyond the month of withdrawal before spending are not considered a countable resource so long as they remain unspent and identifiable.
- 2. Any amount in an Account in excess of \$100,000 will be considered a resource and may, therefore, cause suspension of SSI benefits while the Account Balance exceeds \$100,000.

MEDICAID

Funds in an Account are disregarded for the purposes of determining Medicaid eligibility, even if the Account Balance exceeds \$100,000 and/or SSI benefits are suspended due to one of the exceptions outlined above.

MEDICAID RECOVERY

Except as required by federal law, the Florida Medicaid program may not file a claim for Medicaid recovery of funds in an Account. Any remaining funds in an Account must first be distributed for Qualified Disability Expenses then transferred to the estate of the designated beneficiary or an Account of another eligible individual specified by the Beneficiary.

If the Beneficiary receives Medicaid benefits, upon the death of the Beneficiary, a state may request reimbursement for Medicaid benefits paid after establishment of the Account and after all outstanding Qualified Disability Expenses have been paid. The claim is limited to the total amount of assistance paid by the Medicaid program, less premiums paid by, or on behalf of, the Beneficiary to a Medicaid Buy-In program under Title XIX of the Social Security Act. For this purpose, a state is considered a creditor of the Account and not a beneficiary.



PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

- 1. This Participation Agreement, which incorporates the Terms and Conditions by reference, describes the definitions, policies and terms of the ABLE United Program (the Qualified ABLE Program established under Section 1009.986, Florida Statutes).
- 2. The Administrator has read and understands the Program Description, the Conditions. and Terms and this Participation Agreement. and. bv submitting the Application, consents to be bound by the policies, terms and conditions of the Program.
- 3. The Agreement which consists of the Application, this Participation Agreement and the Terms and Conditions, as each amended from time to time by Florida ABLE, Inc. to comply with Federal laws regulations and Florida and the Legislature's grant of authority under Sections 1009.986(1) and 1009.986(4), including subparts, through the rulemaking process as more fully described in Section 120.54, Florida Statutes, is the complete and exclusive statement of the agreement between the Administrator and Florida ABLE, Inc., related to the subject matter hereof, which supersedes any prior agreement, oral or written, and any other communications between the parties hereto relating to the subject matter of the Agreement. The Administrator agrees to be bound by any amendments that either Florida ABLE, Inc., or the Board may make

- to the Participation Agreement and the Terms and Conditions. Notification of such amendments may be made via www.ableunited.com.
- 4. The Administrator understands and acknowledges that the Account is opened and maintained for meeting the Qualified Disability Expenses of the Beneficiary.
- 5. The Administrator understands and acknowledges that Accounts involve investment risk, including the possible loss principal. The Administrator of acknowledges understands and Accounts are not deposits or obligations of, or insured or guaranteed by, the State of Florida or any agency or instrumentality thereof, the United States government, any financial institution, or any other agency, entity, instrumentality or person. Administrator understands acknowledges that only the FDIC Insured Savings Account Option offers deposit insurance from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and only up to the then-applicable standard maximum deposit insurance amount. The obligation of the Program is limited solely to those amounts deposited into the Florida ABLE Program Trust Fund on behalf of the Program. Investment Options may not be successful in meeting their respective investment objectives. Past investment results of the underlying investment managers and funds in the Investment



Options offer no assurance of future returns.

- 6. Any determinations regarding Accounts will be made by either Florida ABLE, Inc., or the Board based on the facts and circumstances of each case.
- 7. Determinations with respect to Accounts shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of and applicable federal law, including 26 U.S.C. § 529A, as amended. Venue for any proceeding arising from or related to the Accounts is in Leon County, Florida. All appeals shall be to the First District Court of Appeal of Florida. In the event any clause or portion of the Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, that clause or portion shall be severed from the Agreement and the remainder of the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as if such clause or portion had never been included.
- 8. Except as specifically provided in the Terms and Conditions and in this Participation Agreement, the Agreement, or any interest, rights, or benefits in the Agreement, may not be sold, exchanged, assigned, or transferred. Further, any interest in an Account, or any portion thereof, may not be used as security for a loan.
- 9. The Program may require that any written documentation, request or any other actions Florida ABLE, Inc., may

- designate from time to time, be verified under oath.
- 10. The Program shall provide a separate accounting for each Account.
- 11. If the Program determines that there has been any material misrepresentation related to the Agreement or the Account, the Account may be cancelled.
- 12. The Beneficiary and Administrator assume all liability for any financial losses related to an Account. The Beneficiary and Administrator understand, acknowledge, and agree that there is no recourse against Florida ABLE Inc., its directors, or its employees, vendors. contractors. investment advisors. investment consultants or investment managers individually, or against the Board, its members, its committee members or its employees individually, or against the State of Florida or the Program in connection with an Account. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed as an express or implied waiver of the sovereign immunity of the State of Florida or a pledge of the full faith and credit of the State of Florida.
- 13. The Program shall not be liable for any losses or failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement caused, directly or indirectly, by government restrictions, exchange or market rulings or conditions, suspension of trading, acts of war, terrorism, strikes, power outages or any other conditions or occurrences beyond its control.



- 14. The Program cannot and does not provide legal, financial or tax advice, and nothing herein or in any other written materials shall be construed as such.
- 15. Florida ABLE, Inc., may contract with the Board to perform some or all of the

powers and duties specified in the Agreement.

Form FPCB 2018-07, Effective 08/18, adopted by reference in Rule 19B-18.003, F.A.C.



TERMS AND CONDITIONS

SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS

- **1.01 "529 Rollover Contribution"** means the distribution of funds from a Qualified 529 Program for the purpose of contributing to the Program, as authorized by Section 529 of the Code.
- **1.02 "ABLE Account"** means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code.
- **1.03 "Account"** means an Account in the Program established pursuant to an Agreement.
- **1.04** "Account Balance" means the amount remaining in an Account after accounting for contributions, earnings, distributions, and fees.
- **1.05** "Account Fee" means the maintenance fee automatically deducted from the Account Balance on a monthly basis.
- **1.06** "Additional Tax" means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code, which applies a 10% additional tax to the portion of the earnings included in any Non-Qualified Distribution. The Additional Tax also may apply to a state income tax calculation.
- **1.07 "Agent"** means the individual who is authorized under a power of attorney, court order, or state law to act on behalf of the Beneficiary.

- 1.08 "Agreement" means the complete and exclusive statement of agreement between the Administrator and Florida ABLE, Inc. The Agreement consists of the Application, these Terms and Conditions, and Participation Agreement, each as amended from time to time by Florida ABLE, Inc. to comply with Federal laws and regulations and the Legislature's grant of authority under Sections 1009.986(1) and 1009.986(4), including subparts, through the rulemaking process as more fully described in Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. The Agreement supersedes any prior agreement, oral or written, and any other communications between the parties concerning the Program and Account.
- **1.09** "Application" means the form authorized by the Board to collect the information specified in Rule 19B-18.002, Florida Administrative Code, to open an Account in the Program.
- 1.10 "Beneficiary" means "designated beneficiary" as that term is defined in both Section 1009.986, Florida Statutes, and Section 529A of the Code and is the individual designated on the Application as the "beneficiary." The Beneficiary must be a United States citizen, or a resident alien, with a valid Social Security Number.
- **1.11 "Board"** means the Florida Prepaid College Board.



- **1.12 "Business Day"** means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a holiday observed by the state or financial market.
- **1.13 "Certification"** means a verification made under penalties of perjury by a person authorized to make such a verification.
- **1.14 "Code"** means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- 1.15 "Comprehensive Investment Plan" means the Florida ABLE, Inc. Comprehensive Investment Plan for the Florida ABLE Program adopted by Florida ABLE, Inc., and approved by the Board, pursuant to Section 1009.986, Florida Statutes, which specifies the investment policies of the Program. Florida ABLE, Inc., retains the authority to amend the investment policies at any time, subject to approval by the Board.
- **1.16 "Custodian"** means an Agent or Parent who is authorized to act on behalf of the Beneficiary who is unable, or chooses not, to exercise signature authority over the Account. A Custodian neither has, nor may acquire, any beneficial interest in the Account.
- 1.17 "Date of Establishment" means the earlier of: (a) the date of the Application acceptance; or (b) in the case of a Rollover Contribution for the same Beneficiary, the earliest date the former ABLE Account was established in a Qualified ABLE Program.

- 1.18 "Disability Certification" means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code. A Disability Certification is made by the Administrator, under penalties of perjury, confirming that the Beneficiary meets the requirements for an Account and must include any additional documentation required by the IRS.
- 1.19 "Eligible Individual" means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code. An individual is an Eligible Individual for a taxable year if he or she is entitled to benefits based on blindness or disability under Title II or XVI of the Social Security Act, and such blindness or disability occurred before the individual attained age 26, or he or she has a Disability Certification. A Certification and any additional documentation required by the IRS is required to demonstrate that the Beneficiary is an Eligible Individual.
- **1.20 "Excess Contribution"** means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code. For purposes of the Program, this means a contribution made while the Account is at, or above, the Maximum Account Balance Limit.
- 1.21 "Existing Balance Allocation" means the current allocation of the Account Balance to each Investment Option. The Existing Balance Allocation may fluctuate as a result of, but not limited to, relative performance of selected Investment Options and the Future Contribution Allocation selected.



- **1.22 "Future Contribution Allocation"** means the allocation of new contributions to each Investment Option.
- **1.23** "Investment Administration Fee" means the maintenance fee which is automatically deducted from the Account Balance on a daily basis.
- **1.24 "Investment Options"** means the options offered in accordance with the Comprehensive Investment Plan. Florida ABLE, Inc., and the Board each retain the authority to close or not offer any of the Investment Options at any time.
- **1.25** "Maximum Account Balance Limit" means the limit on the total value of the ABLE Account.
- **1.26 "Maximum Annual Contribution Limit"** means the calendar year limit on the contributions to all Qualified ABLE Programs for the Beneficiary.
- **1.27 "Member of the Family"** means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code. A Member of the Family is a brother, sister, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, and half-sister.
- 1.28 "NAV" means the net asset value per Trust Unit and is calculated at the time when trading closes on the New York Stock Exchange by dividing the value of each respective Investment Option's assets less its liabilities including, without limitation, the Investment Administration Fee, by the number of outstanding Trust Units of that Investment Option.

- 1.29 "Non-Qualified Distribution" means a distribution from the Account other than for: (a) Qualified Disability Expenses; (b) a change of Beneficiary; or (c) Rollover Distributions. The earnings portion of the distribution may be subject to state and federal income taxes and the Additional Tax
- **1.30 "Parent"** means the same as that term is defined in Section 1000.21(5), Florida Statutes. In general, Parent refers to either or both parents, any guardian or person in a parental relationship or exercising supervisory authority in place of the parent.
- **1.31 "Program"** means the Florida ABLE Program which is established under Section 1009.986, Florida Statutes, and marketed as the ABLE United Program. The Florida ABLE Program is a Qualified ABLE Program.
- **1.32 "Program Description"** means the document published periodically by Florida ABLE, Inc., which contains information, as updated from time to time, about the Program, Investment Options, and risks for the Administrator to consider before opening an Account and during the duration of the Agreement.
- **1.33 "Qualified 529 Program"** means the same as a "qualified tuition program" as defined in Section 529 of the Code.
- **1.34 "Qualified ABLE Program"** means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code. A Qualified ABLE



Program meets the requirements of Section 529A of the Code.

- 1.35 "Qualified Disability Expenses" means the same as that term is defined in Section 529A of the Code. Qualified Disability Expenses include education, employment housing, transportation, training and support, assistive technology and personal support services, health, wellness. prevention and financial management and administrative services, legal fees, expenses for oversight and monitoring, funeral and burial expenses, and other expenses, which are approved by the Secretary of the Treasury.
- **1.36 "Qualified Distribution"** means a distribution from the Account that is used to pay the Qualified Disability Expenses of the Beneficiary.
- **1.37** "Request" means an authorization, which includes all necessary information required by the Program, submitted either online at www.ableunited.com or in writing by the Beneficiary or Administrator.
- **1.38 "Resident"** means an individual who is domiciled presently in Florida.
- 1.39 "Rollover Contribution" means the distribution of funds and transfer of information from a Qualified ABLE Program for the purpose of contributing to the Program, as authorized by Section 529A of the Code. Unless the following two conditions have been met, this withdrawal will be treated as a Non-Qualified Distribution: (1) the funds are transferred

- to a qualified program within 60 days of such distribution; and (2) the transfer occurs at least 12 months from the date of a Rollover Contribution to the Program for the benefit of the Beneficiary.
- **1.40** "Rollover Distribution" means a distribution of funds and transfer of Account information from the Account for the purpose of contributing to another Qualified ABLE Program, as authorized by Section 529A of the Code.
- **1.41 "Trade Date"** means the Business Day on which a NAV is applied to process a contribution or distribution transaction for the Account. If a contribution or distribution is requested after the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange, or on a day other than a Business Day, the NAV for the next Business Day is applied to the transaction.
- **1.42 "Trust Units"** means the share of assets held by the Program for a Beneficiary with respect to a particular Investment Option.

SECTION 2: PARTICIPATION IN THE PROGRAM

- 2.01 General Requirements of an ABLE Account.
- (a) An ABLE Account may be established for the purpose of paying the Qualified Disabilities Expenses of the Beneficiary.
- **(b)** The Beneficiary must be a Resident at the time of Application submission. However, the Beneficiary may continue to



maintain the Account if the Beneficiary subsequently changes his or her residence to another state.

- (c) The Beneficiary may have only one ABLE Account at a time. If an ABLE Account is established for a Beneficiary who already has an ABLE Account in existence, the additional Account will not be treated as an ABLE Account. The exception is a rollover where the ABLE Account from which the funds were rolled is closed within 60 days. The Program may disclose the existence of an Account for the Beneficiary as necessary to enforce this requirement.
- (d) Any person may make a contribution to the Account as described in Section 6: Contributions.
- (e) Distributions may be made only to, or for the benefit of, the Beneficiary. The exceptions are: (1) a change of Beneficiary; (2) the return or rejection of a contribution to a contributor; and (3) repayment of state Medicaid benefits.

2.02 Enrollment.

- (a) An Eligible Individual may apply for participation in the Program by submitting an Application.
- (b) An Agent or Parent may submit the Application on behalf of the Eligible Individual along with a Certification that he or she has authority to establish an Account on behalf of the Beneficiary. The Program may request additional

documentation to substantiate such authority.

- (c) The Application submitted to the Program must be completed according to the Application instructions. A valid email address is required to access the Account online and receive many Program communications. The Application may be completed online at www.ableunited.com.
- (d) Under Section 529A of the Code, the Secretary of the Treasury may require additional information to be presented to establish an ABLE Account. Upon request, this information must be provided to the Program.
- **(e)** An Account may not be established in violation of federal or state law.

2.03 Application Acceptance.

- (a) An Account is established once the Program issues a "Confirmation of Participation," which identifies: (1) the Beneficiary; (2) the Administrator; (3) the Date of Establishment; (4) the annual contributions received by Qualified ABLE Programs for the current calendar year; and (5) the Account Balance.
- (b) If an Application was submitted by an unauthorized individual, the Beneficiary may reject the establishment of the Account. The Program will terminate the Account pursuant to Paragraph 10.04; however, the contributions, if any, will be returned to the person(s) who contributed the funds for the Account. The contributors



must submit the necessary information for tax reporting and check processing before a refund is issued. If the contributions are not claimed, Paragraph 10.06 will apply.

2.04 Eligibility to Allocate or Deposit Contributions to the Account.

- (a) The Program considers the Certification that the Beneficiary is an Eligible Individual to be valid until the end of the calendar year in which a change in the Beneficiary's condition occurred.
- (b) The Administrator is responsible for promptly notifying the Program of any changes in the Beneficiary's condition that would result in the Beneficiary failing to satisfy the definition of Eligible Individual. An Administrator's notice will be considered prompt if the Program received the notice in the calendar year in which the Beneficiary's condition changes.
- (c) The Program may inquire by email, mail, or phone to confirm that the Beneficiary is an Eligible Individual for the calendar year. If the Administrator fails to respond to three consecutive inquiries, the Program may conclude the Beneficiary has ceased to be an Eligible Individual and will apply subparagraph (d) until the Program receives a Certification.
- (d) If the Beneficiary ceases to be an Eligible Individual, the Account will continue to be an ABLE Account, but, beginning on the first day of the following calendar year the Beneficiary is not an Eligible Individual, the Program will not

allocate or deposit any contributions to the Accounts.

2.05 Maintenance of Contact Information.

- (a) The Administrator is responsible for notifying the Program of any change in contact information, including email addresses, mailing addresses, and phone numbers, of the Beneficiary or Administrator.
- **(b)** Contact information may be updated by submitting a Request.

2.06 Treatment of Account Under Federal Programs.

The Administrator is responsible for monitoring and maintaining the Account, including, but not limited to: (a) the Account Balance; (b) the Beneficiary's status as an Eligible Individual; and (c) the support for Qualified Distributions; to qualify for, and comply with, state and federal programs and laws.

SECTION 3: ACCOUNT RIGHTS

3.01 General.

The authority of the Beneficiary and Administrator to exercise the rights of the Account is equal and several unless the authority of the Beneficiary and/or Administrator is limited expressly by a court order.

3.02 Rights of the Beneficiary.



The Beneficiary is the owner of the Account Balance and is able to exercise the rights of the Account, even if a Custodian is serving as the Administrator.

3.03 Rights of the Administrator.

- (a) The Administrator is an authorized individual who is either the Beneficiary or a Custodian and who may: (1) enter into a legally binding contract involving the Beneficiary; (2) execute the rights and responsibilities of the Account; and (3) receive and respond to all correspondence regarding the Account.
- **(b)** The Administrator may submit a Request to designate, modify or revoke an individual authorized to assist in administering certain rights of the Account specified by the Program.

SECTION 4: INVESTMENT OPTIONS

4.01 Investment Options.

In accordance with the Comprehensive Investment Plan, Investment Options are offered by the Program. The Program Description provides descriptions, allowable allocation ranges and performance data for each available Investment Option.

4.02 Authority to Direct Investments.

(a) Section 529A of the Code limits the ability to change the Existing Balance Allocation.

(b) The Account Balance may be invested only in the Investment Options currently offered by the Program.

4.03 Changing Investment Options for Account Balance.

- (a) The Existing Balance Allocation may be changed only to the extent allowed by Section 529A of the Code. The Code currently limits changes to the Existing Account Balance Allocation to two times per calendar year.
- (b) The Existing Balance Allocation may be changed by submitting a Request to the Program which indicates the changes in Investment Options or the new allocation percentages for an Account.

4.04 No Investment Advice.

- (a) Unless expressly and individually identified to the contrary, Florida ABLE, Inc., the Board, the Program, vendors, third-party administrators members and employees thereof are not registered investment advisors broker/dealers. Accordingly, they cannot, and do not, offer investment advice or make recommendations with respect to enrolling in the Program or the selection of Investment Options, and they do not assume any responsibility for performance of any Investment Option.
- (b) The Administrator acknowledges and agrees that he or she has not been advised by the State of Florida, Florida ABLE, Inc., the Board or any employee,



agent, independent contractor, or affiliate or any vendor, contractor, third-party administrator, investment advisor, investment consultant, or investment manager of the State of Florida, Florida ABLE, Inc., or the Board to invest, or to refrain from investing, in the Program or a particular Investment Option.

SECTION 5: RISKS OF INVESTING IN THE PROGRAM

5.01 No Guarantee of Program Suitability.

Participation in the Program may not be suitable to meet some or all of the Beneficiary's objectives. The Beneficiary and Administrator are strongly encouraged to consult a qualified financial advisor regarding whether the Beneficiary should establish an ABLE Account and the effects of contributing, maintaining and distributing funds.

5.02 No Guarantee of Adequate Funds to Pay Qualified Disability Expenses.

Participation in the Program does not guarantee that sufficient funds will be available to cover any or all Qualified Disability Expenses for any Beneficiary, even if the Account reached or exceeded the Maximum Account Balance Limit.

5.03 No Guarantee of Participation in Any Federal or State Programs.

Participation in the Program does not guarantee that the Beneficiary will be eligible for, maintain, or receive benefits directly or indirectly from any federal of state program now or in the future.

5.04 Limited Liquidity.

Investment in the Program involves the risk of reduced liquidity for the investment. Once an Account is opened, the circumstances under which funds may be withdrawn from the Account without the imposition of tax liability and the Additional Tax are limited.

SECTION 6: CONTRIBUTIONS

6.01 Making a Contribution.

- (a) If the Beneficiary is an Eligible Individual during the calendar year, a contribution to the Account may be made during that year. To be included in the current calendar year, the contribution must be received and processed by the Program by the last Business Day of the calendar year. If the Beneficiary is not an Eligible Individual, contributions will be rejected pursuant to Paragraph 6.08.
- (b) The Program may require the Taxpayer Identification Number of the contributor before, at the time of, or after:
 (1) accepting the contribution; or (2) allocating or depositing the contribution into the Account.
- (c) Contributions must be in U.S. dollars and may be made by check, cashier's checks, automatic contribution plan, or payroll deduction. Contributions by traveler's check are not permitted.



(d) The Program also may accept contributions by credit or debit card. If accepted, the instructions, fees, and terms and conditions will be available at www.ableunited.com.

6.02 Rollover Contributions Accepted.

- (a) The Program accepts Rollover Contributions to the extent allowed by Section 529A of the Code. A direct Rollover Contribution is the transfer of money directly to the Program from another Qualified ABLE Program. An indirect Rollover Contributions is the distribution of money from a Qualified ABLE Program before transferring the money to the Program.
- (b) Before accepting a Rollover Contribution, the Program may require a Certification stating: (1) that the former ABLE Account was, or is being, closed; (2) the earliest date the former ABLE Account was established in the Qualified ABLE Program; (3) the amount of contributions to the Account for the current calendar year; and (4) the amount of earnings associated with the Rollover Contribution.

6.03 Investment Allocations for Contributions.

- (a) Generally, contributions will be credited to the Account and invested in accordance with the Future Contribution Allocation applicable at the time of processing.
- **(b)** The Future Contribution Allocation may be changed at any time by submitting a

Request to the Program which indicates the new allocation percentages for each selected Investment Option for an Account.

6.04 Purchasing Trust Units.

- (a) A contribution received by the Program will be used to purchase Trust Units at the NAV of the applicable Investment Option determined on the Trade Date.
- (b) The contribution will cause the purchase of Trust Units for each Investment Option in accordance with the Future Contribution Allocation applicable at time of processing.
- (c) The number of Trust Units purchased will be determined by dividing the contribution for a specified Investment Option by the NAV of that Investment Option as described in (a).
- (d) The Account will not receive any interest or earnings on the contribution before the funds have been used to purchase Trust Units.

6.05 NAV Valuation.

Individual securities held by an Investment Option are valued using market quotations or independent pricing services. If market quotations or independent pricing services are not readily available, or if events that have a significant effect on the value of an investment occur between when the price is determined and when a NAV is calculated, a security's fair value, as determined in good faith, may be used.



6.06 Maximum Annual Contribution Limit.

- (a) The current Maximum Annual Contribution Limit for a Beneficiary is \$16,000. In addition, if a Beneficiary is working and his/her employer does not contribute to the Beneficiary's defined contribution plan, 403(b), or 457(b) plan within the taxable year, the Beneficiary may contribute an additional amount up to the lessor of: (i) the Beneficiary's compensation for the taxable year; or (ii) an amount equal to the Federal Poverty Level for a one person household as determined for the preceding calendar year of the tax year in which contributions are made.
- **(b)** Rollover Contributions do not count toward the Maximum Annual Contribution Limit.
- (c) 529 Rollover Contributions count toward the Maximum Annual Contribution Limit.
- (d) Contributions will be rejected to the extent the amount of the contribution would cause the total contributions for a given calendar year to the Account and all prior ABLE Accounts for the Beneficiary to exceed the Maximum Annual Contribution Limit.

6.07 Maximum Account Balance Limit.

(a) The current Maximum Account Balance Limit for a Beneficiary is \$418,000.

- (b) The Maximum Account Balance Limit may be lower than other Qualified ABLE Programs and lower than previously published amounts for the Program.
- (c) Contributions will be rejected to the extent the amount of the contribution would cause the Account Balance for the Beneficiary to exceed the Maximum Account Balance Limit. However, Accounts that have reached the Maximum Account Balance Limit may continue to accrue earnings.

6.08 529 Rollover Contributions Accepted.

The Program accepts 529 Rollover Contributions to the extent allowed by Section 529 of the Code.

6.09 Rejected Contributions.

- (a) If all or part of a contribution cannot be accepted, then the Program will attempt to contact the Administrator to periodically reattempt, reassign, or return the contribution to the contributor.
- **(b)** If the rejected contribution is not claimed and the funds cannot be allocated and deposited into an Account, Paragraph 10.06 will apply.
- **(c)** The rejected contribution will not receive any interest or earnings.

6.10 Returned Contributions.

(a) If a contribution is returned due to Paragraph 2.03(b) or due to a contribution



being allocated or deposited to the Account when the Beneficiary was not an Eligible Individual, then the Program will remove the contribution, including all earnings attributable to the contribution, (collectively "Returned Contribution") from the Account. Contributions are removed from the Account on a last-in-first-out basis.

- (b) Earnings attributable to the contribution is determined under the rules set forth in Treasury Regulation §1.408-11.
- (c) The Program will notify the Administrator that the Returned Contribution has been removed from the Account.
- (d) The Program will attempt to contact the contributor to issue a Returned Contribution. If the contributor cannot be identified or located by sending notice to the last known mailing address of the contributor and the Returned Contribution is not claimed, Paragraph 10.06 will apply.
- **(e)** The Returned Contribution will not receive any interest or earnings once removed from the Account.

SECTION 7: FEES AND PENALTIES

7.01 Account Fee.

The Board periodically reviews the Account Fee and publishes the amount online at www.ableunited.com. The current nonrefundable Account Fee is \$0.00. An additional \$10 may be assessed

annually if the Account Administrator elects to receive Account communications via U.S. Mail.

7.02 Investment Administration Fee.

- (a) The Board periodically reviews the Investment Administration Fee and publishes the amount online www.ableunited.com. The current nonrefundable Investment Administration Fee for all Investment Options, except the FDIC Savings Fund and Money Market Fund. is 0.290% of the Account Balance. The current Administrative Fee for the FDIC Savings Fund is 0.000% of the Account Balance. The current Administrative Fee for the Money Market Fund is 0.035% of the Account Balance. Fees for the premixed portfolio options are proportional to the fees assessed for the portfolio components.
- (b) The following table compares the approximate costs of investing in the Program over different periods of time at specified rates. The example illustrates the hypothetical expenses a Beneficiary may incur over various periods if \$10,000 is invested in an Account with a 5% annually compounded rate of return. All units are redeemed at the end of the period shown for Qualified Disability Expenses (the results do not take into account any Non-Qualified Distributions subject to state or federal income taxes, or any penalties).



Investr	nent Ad	min. Fe	e for \$1	0,000	
Fee	1-Yr	3-Yr	5-Yr	10-Yr	
(Conserv	ative Po	ortfolio		
0.265%	\$27	\$85	\$149	\$337	
	Moder	ate Port	tfolio		
0.290%	\$30	\$93	\$163	\$369	
	Grow	th Portf	olio		
0.290%	\$30	\$93	\$163	\$369	
	FDIC S	avings	Fund		
0.000%	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	
	Money	Market	Fund		
0.035%	\$4	\$11	\$20	\$45	
	U.S. Bond Fund				
0.290%	\$30	\$93	\$163	\$369	
U.S. Stock Fund					
0.290%	\$30	\$93	\$163	\$369	
International Stock Fund					
0.290%	\$30	\$93	\$163	\$369	

These examples do not represent actual expenses or performance from the past or for the future. Actual future expenses may be higher or lower than those shown.

7.03 Application Fee.

A nonrefundable application fee of up to \$50 per Account may be assessed at the time an Application is submitted.

7.04 Check Fee.

A nonrefundable check fee of \$2.50 will be assessed for each check requested during a calendar month. This fee is waived for

the first two checks Requested each month.

7.05 Insufficient Funds Fee.

If a contribution to the Account is returned due to insufficient funds, a \$20 nonrefundable fee will be assessed to the Account and deducted from the Account Balance.

7.06 Penalty Due to Misrepresentation or Failure to Promptly Report Changes in the Beneficiary's condition.

A nonrefundable penalty of up to \$250 or 100 percent of the Account Balance, whichever is less, may be assessed if the Account is terminated pursuant to Paragraph 10.04.

7.07 Fee Changes.

Florida ABLE, Inc., may add, remove, increase, or decrease the Account Fee, Investment Administration Fee, or other fees charged, which could have a material effect on the investment in the Program and the Account Balance.

SECTION 8: ACCOUNT CHANGES

8.01 Change of Beneficiary.

- (a) During the lifetime of the Beneficiary, part or all of the Account Balance may be transferred to an Eligible Individual who is a Member of the Family.
- **(b)** Before funds are transferred to the Account of an Eligible Individual, the Program requires: (1) the Eligible



Individual to have an Account; (2) a Certification that the recipient is a Member of the Family; and (3) a Certification that the recipient is an Eligible Individual at the time of the transfer.

8.02 Change of Administrator.

- (a) The Administrator may be changed by submitting a Request.
- (b) If the Beneficiary lacks legal capacity to manage the Account, a Custodian may replace an unauthorized individual and serve as an Administrator by submitting a Certification that: (1) the current Administrator is not a Custodian for the Beneficiary; (2) the Beneficiary lacks legal capacity to manage the Account; and (3) the requestor is a Custodian for the Beneficiary.
- **(c)** The Administrator may be changed by court order.
- (d) Upon the death of the Beneficiary, a person may submit the Beneficiary's death certificate and a Certification that the person is: (1) the executor of the Beneficiary's estate as defined in Section 2203 of the Code; and (2) responsible for the proper disposition of the Account Balance.

SECTION 9: DISTRIBUTIONS

9.01 General.

(a) A Request for a distribution may be made at any time.

- (b) Under Section 529A of the Code, the Secretary of the Treasury and Commissioner of the Social Security Administration each may require additional information to categorize the reason(s) for a distribution. Upon request, this information must be provided to the Program.
- (c) A distribution may be made payable to the Beneficiary, a Custodian or a thirdparty by submitting a Request. The individual submitting the Request is responsible for providing the correct information about the payee.
- (d) The Beneficiary should retain evidence to substantiate any Qualified Distributions to the Internal Revenue Service and the Social Security Administration.
- **(e)** The Program is not responsible for any late fees or other fees or penalties charged by a payee related to the distribution.

9.02 Rollover Distribution.

- (a) A Request for a Rollover Distribution may be made at any time.
- (b) If the recipient of the Rollover Distribution is the same Beneficiary, then the Rollover Distribution will be for the Account Balance and the Program will provide the following information to the selected Qualified ABLE Program: (1) a verification that the Account was closed; (2) the earliest date an ABLE Account was established for the Beneficiary, whether in the Program or in a prior Qualified ABLE



Program; (3) the current calendar year contributions to the Account; and (4) the amount of earnings associated with the Rollover Distribution.

9.03 Source of Distribution.

- (a) A Request for a distribution will cause Trust Units to be sold at the NAV of the applicable Investment Options determined on the Trade Date.
- **(b)** The distribution will cause the sale of Trust Units from each Investment Option in proportion to the market values represented by each Investment Option in the Account prior to the distribution.
- (c) The number of Trust Units sold will be determined by dividing the distribution for a specified Investment Option by the NAV of that Investment Option as described in (a).
- **(d)** The distribution will not receive any future interest or earnings.

9.04 Outstanding Distributions.

If a distribution does not clear for any reason, the Administrator may submit a Request to: (a) reissue the distribution or (b) return the funds to the Account pursuant to the Existing Balance Allocation at the time of return.

SECTION 10: TERMINATION AND REFUNDS

10.01 Voluntary Termination.

An Account may be voluntarily terminated at any time by submitting a Request.

10.02 Minimum Account Balance Termination.

- (a) The Program may involuntarily terminate the Account if the Account Balance is \$0 at the end of any calendar year.
- (b) The Account will be reinstated upon receipt of: (1) a Request; and (2) a Certification that the Beneficiary is an Eligible Individual.

10.03 Involuntary Termination.

- (a) The Program may involuntarily terminate the Account if the Administrator fails to provide the Program with the information required: (1) to complete the Application within 90 days of submission; or (2) by the Secretary of the Treasury or federal law within a reasonable period of time prescribed by the Secretary or the applicable federal law, or, if none, 90 days.
- (b) After processing any rejected contributions pursuant to Paragraph 6.08 and any Returned Contributions pursuant to Paragraph 6.09, the remaining Account Balance, if any, will not receive any future interest or earnings and will be made payable to the Beneficiary upon receipt of a Request.
- 10.04 Termination Due to Misrepresentation or Failure to Promptly Report Changes in the Beneficiary's Condition.



- (a) The Program may involuntarily terminate an Account if a material misrepresentation is made in the Application, Request, communication, or maintenance of the Account by the Beneficiary or Administrator. A material misrepresentation includes, but is not limited to, providing an invalid Taxpayer Identification Number or providing a false Certification that an individual is an Eligible Individual or a Member of the Family of the Beneficiary.
- **(b)** The Program may involuntarily terminate an Account if the notice of a change in the Beneficiary's condition, as required by Paragraph 2.04, is not submitted promptly to the Program.
- (c) After processing any rejected contributions pursuant to Paragraph 6.09 and any Returned Contributions pursuant to Paragraph 6.10, the remaining Account Balance, if any, will not receive any future interest or earnings and will be made payable to the Beneficiary upon receipt of a Request.

10.05 Account Expiration.

- (a) If no contributions or distributions from the Account have been made for a continuous period of 25 calendar years, the Account will be declared expired.
- (b) If the Account Balance exceeds \$50, the Program will send to the last known mailing address of the Administrator a notice at least six months prior to expiration of the Account Balance.

10.06 Unclaimed Funds.

- (a) If a contribution or distribution is not claimed within seven calendar years, the funds will be declared unclaimed.
- (b) If the funds exceed \$50, the Program will send to the last known mailing address of the Administrator or, for rejected contributions and Returned Contributions, the contributor, a notice at least six months prior to distribution being declared unclaimed.

10.07 Expired and Unclaimed Funds

Funds from expired Accounts and unclaimed funds may be used to operate the Program.

SECTION 11: REPORTING

11.01 Account Statements.

- (a) The Program maintains separate records for each Account and will provide quarterly statements indicating, for the period and calendar year, the: (1) contributions to, distributions from, and changes in the number of Trust Units for each Investment Option in the Account; (2) ending value of the Account; and (3) investment performance of each Investment Option.
- (b) Quarterly statements may not be provided for any quarter where: (1) there have been no contributions or distributions; and (2) the beginning and ending Account Balance is \$0.



- (c) The Administrator is responsible for reviewing each quarterly statement and for verifying the information contained on quarterly statement. each lf the Administrator fails to notify the Program in writing of any error on the quarterly statement within 60 calendar days after the production date on the quarterly statement, the information pertaining to the Account contained on the quarterly statement is deemed to be correct, and the Administrator will be considered to have: (1) approved the information contained on the quarterly statement and its inclusion on subsequent quarterly statements; and (2) released the Program from all liability for any error contained on the quarterly statement.
- (d) A Request for a copy of the most recent Account Statement may be submitted at any time.

11.02 Tax Treatment, Withholding and Reporting.

- (a) The application and impact of tax law vary widely based upon the specific facts involved. The Administrator is strongly encouraged to consult a qualified tax advisor regarding the tax consequences of contributing money to, or withdrawing money from, an Account.
- (b) The Program will furnish a statement containing the information required on a Form 5498-QA, or any successor form. The statement may be: (1) a copy of Form 5498-QA, or any successor form; or (2) combined with a quarterly statement.

- (c) The Program will issue a Form 1099-QA, or any successor form, in accordance with the instructions for that Form, for the calendar year in which any distribution is made.
- **(d)** The Program does not withhold any earnings or portion of a distribution for tax purposes.
- (e) A Request for a copy of the most recent statements provided under (b) or (c) may be made at any time. The request for a paper statement will not be treated as withdrawing consent under Paragraph 11.03(b).

11.03 Electronic Reporting.

- (a) The primary method for providing correspondence is online access at www.ableunited.com. Email may be used to provide notifications of the availability of electronic statements and other Program information.
- (b) For statements issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, the Program may request the recipient to affirmatively consent to receive the statement in electronic format. The consent applies to statements furnished every year after the consent is given. The recipient may withdraw his or her consent at any time by submitting a Request. If consent is withdrawn, the Program will confirm the withdrawn consent in writing and the effective date, which will not exceed 60 days, when future statements will be furnished on paper. If the recipient does



not consent, the statement will be furnished on paper.

(c) The Program retains the right to provide any or all statements and correspondence on paper instead of electronically without notice.

11.04 Reporting to State and Federal Agencies.

The Program may report Account information to state and federal agencies to comply with state and federal law and to administer the Program.

SECTION 12: OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE ACCOUNT

12.01 Not an Obligation of the State.

The Agreement is only a debt or obligation of the Program, and is not otherwise a debt or obligation of the State of Florida.

12.02 Actual Receipt by Program Required.

All Requests and authorizations are effective only upon actual receipt by the Program and after a reasonable processing time.

12.03 Privacy and Account Confidentiality.

(a) The personal financial and health information of a party to the Participation Agreement and these Terms and Conditions is confidential and exempt from Section 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, and Section 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution.

(b) Florida ABLE, Inc., or the Board may authorize the disclosure of information to another state or federal government entity for the receiving entity to perform its duties or responsibilities or for the Program to: (1) verify the eligibility of an Eligible Individual; (2) permit the use of an Account; or (3) provide additional services for the Beneficiary.

12.04 Accounts Subject to State Medicaid Repayment.

Subject to any outstanding payments due for Qualified Disability Expenses, upon the death of the Beneficiary, all amounts remaining in the Account not in excess of the amount equal to the total medical assistance paid for the Beneficiary after the Date of Establishment, net of any premiums paid from the Account or paid by, or on behalf of, the Beneficiary to a Medicaid Buy-In program under any state Medicaid plan established under Title XIX of the Social Security Act, shall be distributed to such state upon filing of a claim for payment by such state. For purposes of this Paragraph, the state shall be a creditor of an ABLE Account and not a beneficiary.

12.05 Accounts Not Registered Under the Securities Laws.

(a) Neither the Accounts under, nor the Agreement to be executed in connection with, the Program will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or with the securities regulatory authority of any state.



(b) To the extent that registration of the Accounts or the Participation Agreement is required, or registration of Florida ABLE, Inc., the Board or its officers and employees is required in order to offer or sell the Accounts or the Participation Agreement, and the Accounts or the Participation Agreement are offered and sold without the proper registration(s): (1) Florida ABLE, Inc., could be required to cease and desist operating the Program and to terminate the Program; (2) monetary penalties could be imposed; or (3) both.

12.06 Necessity of Qualification.

- (a) The Program is intended to be a Qualified ABLE Program. Florida ABLE, Inc., and the Board may make changes to the Program and the Agreement at any time if it is determined that such changes are necessary for the continuation of the Program as a Qualified ABLE Program.
- (b) The Administrator acknowledges and agrees that the Beneficiary and Account will be bound by any such changes.

12.07 Statute and Rules.

- (a) The Account and the Agreement are subject to future changes to the Program, Part IV Chapter 1009, Florida Statutes, as amended, and to Rule 19B-18, Florida Administrative Code (or any similar successor rule), as amended.
- **(b)** All transactions and changes of the Account are subject to such rules and

- policies as the Board may adopt in accordance with federal and state law.
- **(c)** All references in the Agreement to federal and Florida law include any similar successor law.
- (d) The Administrator agrees to be bound by any such changes, policies, rules, and statutes.

12.08 Program Changes and Termination.

- (a) The Program is required to comply with Section 529A of the Code and the regulations and the administrative guidance issued thereunder, as well as Section 1009.986 through 1009.988, Florida Statutes, and related sections and the related regulations and administrative guidance thereunder. In the operations of the Program, Florida ABLE, Inc. and the Board shall have authority to interpret and administer the Program in a manner which complies with the Statutes and the guidance thereunder.
- **(b)** Florida ABLE, Inc., reserves the right to make changes or enhancements to the Program at any time to comply with Federal laws and regulations and the Florida Legislature's grant of authority under Sections 1009.986(1) 1009.986(4), including subparts, through the rulemaking process as more fully described in Section 120.54. Florida Statutes Beneficiaries who established Accounts prior to the time an enhancement is made available, may be



precluded by federal tax law from participating in such enhancement.

- (c) Although Florida ABLE, Inc., currently has no plans to do so, Florida ABLE Inc., may: (1) refuse to accept additional contributions to existing Accounts; or (2) refuse to accept Applications for new Accounts.
- (d) The Program will continue indefinitely until its existence is terminated by law, if ever, or discontinued because the Program is not financially feasible. If the Program is terminated, after six (6) months, to allow for an opportunity to submit Requests for distributions, the Account will be involuntarily terminated and the Account Balance will be distributed pursuant to Paragraph 10.03(b).
- **(e)** There is a possibility that, due to poor performance of the Investment Options and/or Program fees, the Account Balance may be zero or significantly lower than the amount of funds contributed to the Account.
- **(f)** Termination of the Program may result in a Non-Qualified Distribution for which taxes and penalties may be assessed.

12.09 State Pledge.

The State of Florida pledges that the State of Florida will not limit or alter the rights under Section 1009.986, Florida Statutes, which are vested in the Program until such obligations are met and discharged.

However, Section 1009.986(4)(i), Florida Statutes, does not preclude such limitation if adequate provision is made by law for the protection of the Beneficiary pursuant to the obligations of Florida ABLE, Inc.

12.10 Disputes.

Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to the Agreement, or the breach, termination or validity thereof, will be resolved in an administrative proceeding conducted pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 120, Florida Statutes.

12.11 Indemnification.

- (a) Florida ABLE, Inc., the Board or the Program will not indemnify any Beneficiary or Administrator against losses or other claims caused directly or indirectly by government restrictions, exchange or market rulings, suspension of trading, war, terrorism, strikes, changes in federal or state law, including tax law, or other conditions beyond their control.
- (b) The establishment of the Account will be based upon the Administrator's agreements, representations warranties set forth in the Agreement. The Administrator agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Program, Florida ABLE, Inc., the Board, any vendors, contractors, investment advisors. investment or investment managers consultants selected by Florida ABLE, Inc., or the Board, and any agents, representatives, or successors of any of the foregoing, from and against any and all loss, damage,



liability or expense, including reasonable attorney's fees, that any of them may incur by reason of, or in connection with, any misstatement or misrepresentation made by the Administrator herein or otherwise with respect to the Account, and any breach by the Administrator of any of the agreements, representations or warranties contained in the Agreement.

(c) All of the acknowledgements, agreements, representations and warranties of the Beneficiary and Administrator will survive the termination of the Agreement.

12.12 Improper Action by a Custodian.

The Program, Florida ABLE, Inc., and the Board will not be liable for any consequence related to an action taken by a Custodian, or any individual who submits a Certification, which is an improper use,

transfer, or characterization of custodial funds

12.13 Binding Nature; Third-Party Beneficiaries.

The Agreement will survive the death of the Beneficiary and will be binding upon the Beneficiary's personal representatives, legal representatives, heirs, successors and assigns.

12.14 Headings.

The heading of each section, paragraph and provision in the Terms and Conditions will not be deemed to modify or qualify any of the rights or obligations set forth in each such section, paragraph and provision.

Form FPCB 2018-08, Effective 08/2018, adopted by reference in Rule 19B-18.003, F.A.C.



APPENDIX A - FEES

There is no Account maintenance fee. A minimum of \$25 is needed to open the Account. It is free to request a withdrawal via electronic funds transfer or check. If you choose to opt out of electronic statements, there is a \$10 per year fee for mailed paper statements.

There is a small Investment Administration Fee that ranges between 0 and 29 bps (from \$0 to \$2.90/year per \$1,000 in the Account). Performance returns (Appendix D) are shown net of this fee.

Additional fees may be assessed based on how you use the Account.

Insufficient Funds Fee	\$20
Outgoing Wires	\$15
Overnight Delivery	\$15
Reissue of disbursement check	\$15

If you choose to sign up for the connected prepaid card, there is a \$2.50 per month fee that will be assessed to the balance of the prepaid card.

Additional prepaid card fees may be assessed to the prepaid card balance based on how you use your prepaid card.

International Signature or PIN Purchase	\$2
Prepaid card replacement	\$5
Expedited Card	\$30

Any additional services may have extra fees. For more information, reivew the Card Holder Agreement at https://able-united.truelinkfinancial.com/legal/able-master-services-agreement.



APPENDIX B - INVESTMENT OPTION RISK

Primary Investment Risk by Fund Option					
Risk Consideration	FDIC	Money Market	U.S. Bond	U.S. Stock	International Stock
Investment Style Risks					
FDIC Risk explanation FDIC insurance generally protects up to \$250,000 of your deposits at the same bank in the same ownership right and capacity. Your ABLE Account invested in the FDIC Savings Fund, taken together with other deposits you hold in a single ownership basis at the Bank, will be insured up to \$250,000.	•				
Passive Management Risk When replicating a benchmark, the performance of selected securities may not match the index. Generally, excess returns are expected to be less than active styles.		•	•	•	•

Security Type Risks

Money Market and U.S. Bond Fund Risks

Fixed income investments are generally considered less risky than equities. Primary risk considerations include: *interest rate risk*, declining security price due to rising interest rates; *credit risk*, failure of a bond issuer to pay interest/principal timely; *call risk*, redemption by a bond issuer prior to maturity due to falling interest rates causing reinvestment at a lower rate; *extension risk* for mortgage backed securities, loan payoff later than expected preventing reinvestment at higher interest rates; and *prepayment risk* for mortgage backed securities, loan payoff faster than expected causing reinvestment at lower interest rates.

U.S. Stock Risks:

Equity investments are subject to **stock market risk**, a decline in stock prices. Markets generally move in cycles, with periods of rising and periods of falling prices.

International Stock Risks:

In addition to stock market risk, primary international equity risks include: **country/political risk**, world events (such as political changes, natural disasters, or financial troubles) causing decline in price; and **currency risk**, declining stock value due to declining currency value.

Investment risks addressed herein are not intended to cover all risks associated with investment in the Program.



APPENDIX C - PERFORMANCE

The performance of each Investment Option will vary from day to day based on the performance of the underlying stock, bond and money market securities. The following table represents past performance for each Investment Option adjusted to reflect the Investment Administration Fee.

Net Investment Returns* as of June 30, 2021					
Predesigned Portfolio Options	1-Year	3-Year	5-Year		
Conservative Portfolio	14.79%	9.50%	8.04%		
Moderate Portfolio	22.98%	12.01%	10.76%		
Growth Portfolio	31.10%	13.53%	12.90%		
Fund Options	1-Year	3-Year	5-Year		
FDIC Savings ¹	0.10%	N/A	N/A		
Money Market	0.22%	1.48%	1.40%		
U.S. Bond Fund	-0.66%	5.12%	2.75%		
U.S. Stock Fund	43.98%	18.40%	17.54%		
International Stock Fund	31.68%	8.21%	9.96%		

^{*} The net investment returns are provided for general information only and are not intended to provide investment or other advice. The Program launched July 1, 2016. Performance for any periods prior to this date is based on the underlining Investment Option performance net of the Investment Administration Fee. Past performance is no guarantee of future performance. Actual results for future periods could differ significantly from past performance. Your investment return and the value of your investment will fluctuate. Your investment when withdrawn may be worth more or less than your contributions.

¹The FDIC Option became available as a new Investment Option in March 2019. Interest on the FDIC Savings Option will be credited by the Bank on the last business day of each month based on the average daily balance on deposit in the FDIC Savings Option during such month. The interest rate on the FDIC Option will be a rate equal to the upper end of the Federal Funds target rate range established by the Federal Reserve's Federal Open Mark et Committee, less 15 basis points.

The investment returns provided were verified by Aon Hewitt Investment Consulting, Inc., the Program's investment consultant. Performance is based on the historical performance of the option's underlying investment fund net of the Investment Administration Fee.

Updated performance available at www.ableunited.com/save/investment-performance/



Carefully consider the investment objectives, risks, charges and expenses before investing in the ABLE United Program. Please read this Program Description and Participation Agreement carefully. As with any investment, it is possible to lose money by investing in this program. The value of your ABLE United account may fluctuate and it is possible for the value of your account to be less than the amount you invested. Before investing, you should consider whether the state in which you reside or have taxable income has a 529A program that offers favorable state income tax or other benefits that are available only if you invest in the program of that state.

This information is for educational purposes only and is not intended as tax, legal or investment advice.